
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN

GREEN BAY DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

v. CASE NO. 

MENOMINEE TRIBAL ENTERPRISES, 

the principal business arm of the Menominee Indian 

Tribe of Wisconsin, MARSHALL PECORE, and 

CONRAD WANIGER,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

The United States of America, through its counsel Steven M. Biskupic, United States

Attorney for the Eastern District of Wisconsin, and Christian R. Larsen, Assistant United

States Attorney, and on behalf of the United States Department of the Interior and Bureau

of Indian Affairs, for its Complaint alleges as follows:

I. NATURE OF THE ALLEGATIONS.

1. The United States of America brings this action to recover statutory damages

and civil penalties under the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729-33, and to recover

damages and other relief under the common law.

2. Defendant Menominee Tribal Enterprises (“MTE”) operates a tribal sawmill

for profit, and during the time periods relevant to this Complaint, had contracts with the
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United States Department of the Interior, Bureau of Indian Affairs (“BIA”), to perform road

and forestry work within the tribal forest. 

3. The United States alleges that from approximately May 1998 through

September 2002, defendants MTE, Marshall Pecore, and Conrad Waniger: (a) knowingly

presented or caused to be presented false or fraudulent claims to the United States, through

the BIA; and (b) knowingly used or caused to be used false records or statements to get a

false claim paid by the United States, in violation of the False Claims Act (“FCA”), 31

U.S.C. §§ 3729(a)(1) and (2).

4. The United States alleges further that MTE breached its roads and forestry

contracts with the BIA, resulting in MTE’s wrongful expenditure of hundreds of thousands

of dollars in BIA funds.  

5. The defendants violated the FCA, and MTE breached its contracts with the

BIA, in the following manner: (a) MTE improperly spent over $700,000 in BIA funds to

purchase several pieces of heavy equipment and to construct a nine-stall garage; (b) because

of these improper expenditures, and MTE’s poor financial status in 2001, MTE officials were

concerned about MTE’s ability to pay the legitimate expenses of its roads crews, including

employee wages; (c) in order to secure a source of  money to pay the MTE roads crews,

defendants MTE, Marshall Pecore and Conrad Waniger billed the BIA for purportedly

completing work under fire prevention contracts, such as work to create fuel breaks in high

fire hazard areas; but (d) MTE did not complete much of that fire work, and instead
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improperly used the fire funds to pay its roads crews for performing their usual road

maintenance work, including clearing trails for access to timber sale harvest areas. 

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE.

6. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction to entertain this action under 28

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1345, and supplemental jurisdiction to entertain the common law and

equitable causes of action under 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a).  The Court may exercise personal

jurisdiction over the defendants pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a).

7. None of the defendants can assert tribal sovereign immunity in a lawsuit

brought by the United States.  See United States v. Red Lake Band of Chippewa Indians, 827

F.2d 380, 383 (8  Cir. 1987).    th

8. Venue is proper in the Eastern District of Wisconsin under 31 U.S.C. § 3732

and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c) because the defendants reside and transact business in this

district and because the defendants committed acts within this district that violated 31 U.S.C.

§ 3729.

III. PARTIES.

9. The plaintiff, United States of America, brings this action on behalf of itself

and on behalf of the United States Department of Interior, an agency of the United States

government, the operation of which is paid by funds from the United States Treasury.

10. The BIA is a bureau within the Department of Interior, with delegated

responsibilities and authority over Indian affairs under Title 25 U.S.C. §§ 1 and 1a.
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11. Defendant Menominee Tribal Enterprise (“MTE”) is the principal business arm

of the Menominee Indian Tribe of Wisconsin (“the tribe”).  

12. Defendant Marshall Pecore was employed by MTE as its Forest Manager, and

was responsible for the overall management of the tribal forest, including the proper

expenditure of BIA funds for forest management purposes.  

13. Defendant Conrad Waniger was employed by MTE as its Fire Management

Officer, and reported to Marshall Pecore.    

IV. THE FALSE CLAIMS ACT. 

14. The False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729 et seq., provides, in pertinent part,

that:

(a) . . . Any person who -  (1) knowingly presents, or causes to be

presented, to an officer or employee of the United States Government

. . . a false or fraudulent . . . claim for payment or approval; [or] (2)

knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false record or

statement to get a false or fraudulent . . . claim paid or approved by the

Government; . . . is liable to the United States Government for a civil

penalty of not less than $5,000 and not more than $10,000, plus 3 times

the amount of damages which the Government sustains because of the

act of that person, . . .

(b) . . . For purposes of this section, the terms “knowing” and

“knowingly” mean that a person, with respect to information - (1) has

actual knowledge of the information; (2) acts in deliberate ignorance of

the truth or falsity of the information; or (3) acts in reckless disregard

of the truth or falsity of the information, and no proof of specific intent

to defraud is required.

Case 1:07-cv-00316-WCG     Filed 04/03/2007     Page 4 of 38     Document 1 



5

V. THE BIA CONTRACTS.

A. Background.

15. During the time periods relevant to this Complaint, MTE entered into contracts

with the BIA to assure that the tribal forest was operated on a sustained yield basis and

protected from fire.  

16. Under these contracts, MTE spent millions of dollars in BIA funds, purportedly

to maintain fire access roads, to create fuel breaks to prevent the spread of forest fires, and

to protect the tribal forest. 

17. MTE also managed a logging operation and tribal sawmill for the benefit of

the tribe.

18. The BIA awarded two contracts to MTE pursuant to 25 U.S.C. §

450f(a)(1)(B)(Public Law 93-638) that are relevant to this Complaint: a Roads Maintenance

Contract and a Forest Management Contract. 

19. MTE held these BIA contracts, as modified throughout subsequent years, until

September 2002, at which time the tribe assumed responsibility for the contracts and MTE

became a subcontractor for the same contracts.  

20. Under these contracts, the BIA provided funds to MTE to carry out their terms.

21. MTE could expend these contract funds for certain limited purposes, such as

roads maintenance on the Menominee Indian Reservation (Contract Nos. CTF58X00104 and

CTF58X00112), or management of the tribal forest (Contract Nos. CTF58X00108 and

CTF58X00110). 
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22. The federal government allocated, and the BIA paid, funds to MTE at regular

intervals in accordance with Annual Funding Agreements, for use in fulfilling the terms of

these contracts.  

23. When funds were needed for appropriate contract expenses, MTE could draw

against the funds the BIA had provided to MTE, if authorized by both the contracts and

Annual Funding Agreements. 

24. On a quarterly basis, MTE was required to submit Financial Status Reports

(also called Standard Form 269A reports) to the BIA setting forth the total amount of federal

money expended during the fiscal quarter under each of the contracts. 

25. At the end of the Financial Status Reports, MTE’s Chief Financial Officer

signed the following certification:

I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that this report is

correct and complete and that all outlays and unliquidated obligations

are for the purposes set forth in the award documents.

B. Roads Maintenance Contract.

26. In February 1995, the BIA awarded MTE a Roads Maintenance Contract

(Contract No. CTF58X00104). 

27. On December 21, 2000, MTE and the BIA entered into a successor Road

Maintenance Contract (Contract No. CTF58X00112). 

28. By 2002, the cumulative funds allocated to the Roads Maintenance Contracts

was $3,500,685.
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29. Under the 1995 Roads Maintenance contract, MTE agreed to provide road

maintenance “on 275.11 miles of BIA roads on the Menominee Indian  Reservation, and to

upgrade inadequate road conditions for the social, economic needs of the residents and

community of the Menominee Indian Reservation in accordance with the Bureau of Indian

Affairs Road Maintenance Handbooks.”

30. The Statement of Work for the Roads Maintenance Contract provides that road

maintenance duties include machine blading of earth and gravel type road surfaces, snow and

ice removal, and general repairs of roads, bridges, culverts, guardrails and fences.

C. Forest Management Contract.

31. In January 1997, the BIA awarded MTE a Forest Management Contract (No.

CTF58X00108).

32. In November 2000, the BIA awarded MTE a successor Forest Management

Contract (No. CTF58X00110).

33. By 2002, the cumulative funds allocated to the Forest Management Contracts

was $8,880,921. 

34. Under the Forest Management Contract, MTE agreed to use BIA funds for the

purposes set forth in the Forest Management Plan and Statement of Work attached to the

Contract, including: (a) tree harvesting tasks such as tree selection, shelterwood marking, and

even-aged management; (b) forest inventory and management planning; (c) protection of the

forest from insects, disease, and trespass; (d) fire protection activities; and (e) forest

development.
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D. Hazardous Fuels Reduction Program. 

35. On June 20, 2000, MTE representatives Marshall Pecore and Conrad Waniger

executed a Hazardous Fuels Reduction (“HFR”) proposal (PCAS No. F5801D01) for fiscal

year 2001, which the BIA subsequently approved, creating a contract between MTE and the

BIA.

36. Under the 2001 HFR contract, MTE billed the BIA for work to maintain a fuel

break system around and within established pine plantations, pine shelterwoods and naturally

regenerated white pine stands in high fire hazard areas.  

37. Under the HFR contract, Marshall Pecore and Conrad Waniger submitted

invoices and supporting documents (including accomplishment maps)  to the BIA upon their

completion of work authorized by the contract.

38. In March and April 2002, Marshall Pecore signed and certified several HFR

invoices (described in more detail below)  as follows:

I certify that this invoice and supporting data are accurate and

complete to the best of my knowledge and belief; that the

amount of this invoice accurately represents the expenditures on

the project identified in this invoice; and that I am duly

authorized to make the above certification on behalf of

Menominee Tribal Enterprises.
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VI. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS SUPPORTING FCA AND COMMON LAW

CLAIMS.

A. Unapproved Capital Expenditures.

(1) Defendants’ Knowledge of Contractual Requirements

39. On May 5, 1998, Marshall Pecore, MTE’s Forest Manager, wrote to the BIA

requesting permission to use BIA funds allocated to the Road Maintenance Contract to

replace aging BIA road maintenance equipment, a 1982 Caterpillar Road Grader and a 1984

Case Front End Loader.

40. On May 28, 1998, the BIA, through Minneapolis Area Director Larry Morrin,

wrote to Lawrence Waukau, President of MTE, with a copy to the Menominee Indian Tribe,

in response to Mr. Pecore’s letter of May 5, 1998.

41. The BIA’s May 28, 1998, letter gave MTE specific notice of Section H-7 of

the 1995 Roads Maintenance Contract, stating in part that “[r]equests of this nature are

addressed under Section H-7 of the [Roads Maintenance] Contract, entitled “Leases,

Equipment Purchase and Subcontracts: -- which requires the Contracting Officer to provide

written approval for leases of any dollar amount, and all equipment purchases or subcontracts

of $5,000 or over.  In accordance with this contractual requirement, we respectfully request

that you provide us with the name and address of the lessor, vendor, or subcontractor

proposed along with a justification of need.” 

42. The BIA’s May 28, 1998, letter further advised Waukau and MTE that the

funds needed to accommodate Mr. Pecore’s request would “exceed $100,000, or
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approximately 17% of the total FY 1998 contract program funding of $576,750.00,” leaving

significantly less funding for contracted road maintenance operations. 

43. On June 12, 1998, the Chairman of the tribe wrote to the BIA regarding the

equipment purchase issue.

44. The tribe’s June 12, 1998, letter stated in part:

Reference is made to your letter to Menominee Tribal

Enterprises (MTE), dated May 28, 1998, wherein you reviewed

the request from MTE to purchase heavy equipment with Roads

Maintenance Funding.  For reasons outlined below, the

Menominee Tribe objects to use of Roads funds for any purpose

other than road maintenance use ... 

 

45. MTE officials including Lawrence Waukau and Marshall Pecore had

knowledge of the terms of Section H-7 of the Roads Maintenance Contract.

46. In addition to Section H-7 of the 1995 contract, MTE agreed to be bound by

OMB Circular A-87 in Attachment E to the successor Roads Maintenance Contract, dated

December 21, 2000.

47. OMB Circular A-87 (as amended on August 29, 1997), Attachment B,

paragraph 19(c) provided that: “[c]apital expenditures for equipment, including replacement

equipment, other capital assets, and improvements which materially increase the value or

useful life of equipment or other capital assets are allowable as a direct cost when approved

by the awarding agency.  Federal awarding agencies are authorized at their option to waive

or delegate this approval requirement.”   

48.  Upon information and belief, MTE did not receive appropriate BIA approval
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under Section H-7 of the Roads Maintenance Contract or OMB Circular A-87 to make any

of the capital expenditures identified in this Complaint. 

(2) Road Grader purchase.

49. On or about January 28, 1999, at the request of Marshall Pecore, the MTE

Board of Directors approved the use of BIA roads maintenance funds to purchase a new

Caterpillar Model 143H Road Grader for $217,166. 

50. Upon information and belief, MTE did not receive appropriate written approval

under Section H-7 of the Roads Maintenance Contract to purchase this Road Grader with

BIA funds.

51. On April 1, 1999, MTE issued a check to Fabco Equipment, Inc. in the amount

of $218,912.59 for the purchase of the Road Grader.

52. On May 4, 1999, MTE submitted to BIA as its invoice document a Financial

Status Report (Standard Form 269A) that included, but did not specifically identify, this

purchase with other MTE quarterly expenditures, in violation of the Section H-7 of the Roads

Maintenance Contract.

(3) Backhoe purchase.

53. In approximately September 1999, the MTE Board of Directors approved the

use of BIA roads maintenance funds to purchase a new Caterpillar Model 426C Backhoe

Loader for $67,874.

54. Upon information and belief, MTE did not receive appropriate written approval
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under Section H-7 of the Roads Maintenance Contract to purchase this Backhoe with BIA

funds.

55. On February 10, 2000, MTE issued a check to Fabco Equipment, Inc. in the

amount of $67,969.44 to purchase the Backhoe.

56. On February 14, 2001, MTE submitted to BIA as its invoice document a

Financial Status Report that included, but did not specifically identify, this purchase with

other MTE quarterly expenditures, in violation of Section H-7 of the Roads Maintenance

Contract and OMB Circular A-87.

(4) Truck purchase. 

57. In approximately September 1999, the MTE Board of Directors approved the

use of BIA roads maintenance funds to purchase a new Chevrolet pick-up truck for $24,932.

58. Upon information and belief, MTE did not receive appropriate written approval

under Section H-7 of the Roads Maintenance Contract to purchase this truck with BIA funds.

59. On September 16, 1999, MTE issued a check to Broadway Chevrolet-

Oldsmobile of Green Bay in the amount of $24,932 to purchase the pick-up truck.

60. On February 14, 2001, MTE submitted to BIA as its invoice document a

Financial Status Report that included, but did not specifically identify, this purchase with

other MTE quarterly expenditures, in violation of Section H-7 of the Roads Maintenance

Contract and OMB Circular A-87.
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(5) Garage purchase and construction. 

61. On or about January 31, 2000, the MTE Board of Directors approved the use

of BIA roads maintenance funds to purchase and construct a nine-stall garage for equipment

storage, for the total cost of $296,405.

62. Upon information and belief, MTE did not receive appropriate BIA approval

under OMB Circular A-87 to purchase and construct this garage with BIA funds.

63. On February 14, 2001, MTE submitted to BIA as its invoice document a

Financial Status Report Form 269A that included, but did not specifically identify, this

expenditure with other MTE quarterly expenditures, in violation of Attachment E to the

successor Roads Maintenance Contract and OMB Circular A-87. 

(6) Snowplow purchase.

64. On or about September 27, 2000, the MTE Board of Directors approved the

use of BIA roads maintenance funds to purchase a new Mack snowplow truck for $77,022.

65. Upon information and belief, MTE did not receive appropriate written approval

under Section H-7 of the Roads Maintenance Contract to purchase this snowplow with BIA

funds.

66. On September 28, 2000, MTE issued a check in the amount of $112,044 to

Scaffidi Motors, Inc. of Stevens Point, Wisconsin, to purchase the snowplow and one other

piece of equipment.

67. On February 14, 2001, MTE submitted to BIA as its invoice document a
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Financial Status Report that included, but did not specifically identify, this purchase with

other MTE quarterly expenditures, in violation of Section H-7 of the Roads Maintenance

Contract and OMB Circular A-87.

(7) Improper Equipment Lease Charges.

68. Between approximately May 2001 and October 2001, after making the

improper capital expenditures described above, MTE improperly expended $78,804 in BIA

funds from the Roads Maintenance Contract for the costs of leasing some of the same

equipment MTE purchased with BIA funds, in violation of Section H-7 of the Roads

Maintenance Contract (requiring written BIA approval for all leases) and OMB Circular A-

87. 

B. False Invoices for Fire Suppression Work.

(1) Defendants’ False Claims for Fire Work. 

69. In part as a consequence of the improper capital expenditures described in this

Complaint, MTE had expended, by the end of the third fiscal quarter of 2001 (January 1,

2001 to March 31, 2001), BIA funds in excess of total annual funds allocated to MTE under

the Roads Maintenance Contract, resulting in a shortfall in the Contract of approximately

$210,000. 

70. At the end of fiscal year 2001, MTE reported a net loss of approximately $1.87

million.

71. Due to the weak financial status of MTE near the end of fiscal year 2001, MTE
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officials were concerned about the enterprises’s ability to meet payroll for its roads

department employees.

72. On or about March 13, 2001, MTE representatives including Marshall Pecore

and Conrad Waniger proposed using BIA fire funds to pay MTE road crews to upgrade 750

miles of forest logging trails to durable fire access roads over the next five (5) years.

73. In connection with the March 13 proposal, Marshall Pecore advised David

Congos, BIA Trust Forester, on or about March 14, 2001, that the fire road improvement plan

would help Pecore avoid having to lay off road crew equipment operators during the late

winter months.  

74. During the March 14, 2001, conversation, Congos informed Pecore that he had

concerns about the proposal because: (a) most of the fire dollars would be spent in areas with

relatively low fire occurrence; and (b) some of the fire work done recently had provided little,

if any, fire benefit. 

75. During the March 14, 2001, conversation, Congos advised Pecore that he was

opposed to creating a “roads slush fund” from fire subsidiary dollars to do work that was

primarily directed to assisting in logging access in northern hardwood areas, or to upgrade

fire roads to a standard unnecessary for fire engine access. 

76.  MTE later withdrew the March 13, 2001, fire road improvement proposal.

77. Despite the March 14, 2001, conversation between Congos and Pecore, in

March 2001 MTE began billing the federal government for fire work allegedly done by MTE
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roads crews, as follows:     

(a) Invoice 200.

78. On March 22, 2001, MTE submitted Invoice No. 200 to the BIA under the

HFR Agreement.  

79. Invoice 200, submitted by Conrad Waniger and signed by Marshall Pecore,

requested that the BIA pay MTE $8,707.50. 

80. Invoice 200 stated that from December 1, 2000 to January 31, 2001, “MTE’s

roads department cut and established 19.4 miles of Fuel Breaks in compartment 122 and 123

on the Menominee Indian Reservation.” 

81. Upon information and belief, MTE failed to cut and establish fuel breaks (also

referred to as road “brushing” and chipping work) with respect to at least 9.6 miles of roads

shown on accomplishment maps MTE submitted in support of the invoice.

82. Defendants MTE, Marshall Pecore and Conrad Waniger had knowledge of the

falsity of Invoice 200.

83. The BIA paid Invoice 200 on April 20, 2001, not knowing that a substantial

amount of the fire work reflected in the invoice had not been performed. 

(b) Invoice 202.

84. On or about March 22, 2001, MTE also submitted HFR Invoice 202 to the BIA.

85.  Invoice 202, submitted by Conrad Waniger and signed by Marshall Pecore,

requested that the BIA pay MTE $59,840 for work to create fire breaks in the tribal forest,
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including 555 miles of road grading and the installation of 16 culverts for fire vehicle access.

86. The accomplishment maps submitted by MTE in support of invoice 202 alleged

that 293 miles of roads had been graded, and that 141 miles of those same roads  had been

graded twice, for a total of 434 miles of road grading.

87.  The accomplishment maps submitted by MTE failed to account for 121 miles

of  road grading work billed to the BIA.

88. Upon information and belief, MTE failed to grade at least 66 of 293 miles of

roads shown on the MTE accomplishment maps supporting Invoice 202.

89. As part of Invoice 202, MTE billed the BIA for the installation of 16 culverts

for fire vehicle access, but MTE later submitted accomplishment maps showing the

installation of culverts at 17 locations.

90.  Upon information and belief, MTE failed to install new culverts at 11 of 17

culvert locations contained on MTE accomplishment maps supporting Invoice 202.

91. Defendants MTE, Marshall Pecore, and Conrad Waniger had knowledge of the

falsity of Invoice 202. 

92. The BIA paid Invoice 202 on April 27, 2001, not knowing that a substantial

amount of the work reflected in the invoice had not been performed.

(c) Additional Road Brushing Invoices.

93. Beginning in late June 2001 and continuing through March 2002, MTE

submitted to the BIA for payment additional HFR invoices (including Invoice Nos. 212, 214,
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217, 219, 224, and 248) totaling $56,563, for road brushing work allegedly performed during

the summer and fall of 2001.

94. The BIA did not pay any of these invoices, due to their suspicion of fraud in

connection with the invoices.   

95. As an example, on June 28, 2001, MTE  prepared an invoice (HFR Invoice No.

212, dated June 28, 2001, and signed by Marshall Pecore on July 2, 2001) in the amount of

$8,550 for 19 miles of roadside brushing work allegedly performed by the MTE roads crew

in May 2001.

96. In approximately June or July, 2001, Congos inspected parts of the work area

identified by MTE on the accomplishment map supporting Invoice 212.

97. Congos’ inspection revealed that at least 9.7 miles of work shown on MTE

accomplishment maps supporting Invoice 212 had not been performed.

98. Upon information and belief, at the time HFR Invoices 212, 214, 217, 219,

224, and 248 were submitted to BIA, defendants MTE, Marshall Pecore and Conrad Waniger

had knowledge that a substantial amount of the work billed for in those invoices had not been

performed, or had been double or triple billed with other invoices, as set forth in more detail

below.  

99. In addition to the HFR Invoices discussed above, between May 2001 and

September 2001, MTE’s Forestry Department, headed by Marshall Pecore, submitted internal

invoices and requests for use of funds authorizing the expenditure of approximately $150,000
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in federal fire subsidiary funds for work on fire access roads. 

100. Marshall Pecore signed and approved the funding request documents for this

subsidiary fire work, and in doing so certified that: “This [request for use of funds] is in

agreement for the use of funds from Contract.” 

101. During approximately July and August of 2001, MTE forestry staff including

Conrad Waniger informed David Congos that MTE was probably using federal fire funds to

pay for timber sale access road work, rather than fire access road work as authorized by the

Forest Management Contract.

102. On October 22, 2001, Congos requested that Pecore and Waniger prepare an

accomplishment report to account for the fire subsidiary funds expended in the summer of

2001. 

103. In approximately November 2001, Waniger advised Congos that Pecore was

reviewing the accomplishment reports requested by Congos, and that Pecore would provide

the reports to Congos. 

104. During this November 2001 conversation, Congos again advised Waniger of

his concern that federal fire money was being used to pay MTE roads crews for non fire-

related purposes.

105. In early December 2001, Waniger provided Congos with documents, including

accomplishment maps, showing work allegedly performed by MTE under Work Order 866

(fire subsidiary project funds) and Work Order 867 (hazardous fuel reduction funds).
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106. On December 13, 2001, David Congos sent a memorandum to Marshall Pecore

and Conrad Waniger, advising that the documents they provided in response to Congos’

October 22, 2001, memorandum were insufficient to fully verify compliance with the project

proposals. 

107. In the December 13, 2001, memorandum, Congos requested that Pecore and

Waniger provide separate detailed maps showing where the project work was performed with

respect to each of the HFR invoices and subsidiary projects.

108. The December 13, 2001, memorandum advised Pecore and Waniger that the

additional documentation was necessary to verify that these fire project dollars were actually

spent for the purposes for which they were intended, and were not wasted or otherwise

“reprogrammed” (used for an unapproved program or purpose) into non-fire applications.

109. The December 13, 2001, memorandum advised Pecore and Waniger that on-

site inspections showed that a percentage of the road brushing work was not acceptable for

payment. 

110. The December 13, 2001, memorandum advised Pecore and Waniger of the

need to ensure there was no duplicate billing for the same work. 

111. The December 13, 2001, memorandum requested that Pecore and Waniger

provide a response by December 20, 2001.  

112. Pecore and Waniger failed to respond to the December 13, 2001 memorandum.
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113. On December 20, 2001, Congos sent a follow-up memorandum to Pecore and

Waniger requesting additional information and proposing a meeting on December 26, 2001,

to try to resolve the questions raised in the December 13, 2001 memorandum.

114. On January 14, 2002, rather than responding to either of these memorandums,

Waniger informed Congos that upon consultation with Lawrence Waukau, Larry Johnson,

Marshall Pecore, and MTE auditors, MTE was going to rescind the earlier unpaid invoices

and resubmit a single combined invoice.

115. In late January 2002, MTE submitted to Congos what appeared to be an

amended, combined invoice replacing the earlier unpaid invoices.

116. In approximately late January 2002, Conrad Waniger also submitted a

memorandum to Sean Hart, BIA Fire Management Officer, requesting an additional $20,560

in chipper rental funds for work allegedly done under previous HFR invoices for fiscal year

2001.   

117. On January 29, 2002, Congos sent a memorandum to Pecore and Waniger

regarding the combined invoice, advising that before the BIA could act on the invoice,

Congos required a written response to the matters raised in his December 13, 2001, and

December 20, 2001, memoranda.

118. Congos received no response to his January 29, 2002, memorandum, and

therefore did not formally submit the combined invoice to the BIA for payment. 
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119. Between  January 11, 2002, and February 14, 2002, David Congos spot-

checked several areas identified on the accomplishment maps provided by Waniger in early

December 2001.

120. Those spot-checks revealed that in many instances, MTE invoiced the BIA for

hazard fuel reduction and fire subsidiary work that had not been performed. 

121. On or about February 6, 2002, Jay West, BIA Midwest Regional Forester,

wrote to Lawrence Waukau informing him that the BIA could not process any of the unpaid

HFR invoices without adequate documentation to support MTE’s claim that appropriate

contract work was actually being performed, and the BIA returned the unpaid invoices to

MTE. 

122. The February 6, 2002, letter also requested that MTE provide the following

certification statement when resubmitting any of the HFR invoices for payment:

I certify that this invoice and supporting data are accurate and

complete to the best of my knowledge and belief; that the

amount of this invoice accurately represents the expenditures on

the project(s) identified in this invoice; and that I am duly

authorized to make the above certifications on behalf of

Menominee Tribal Enterprises. 

123. In approximately March and April 2002, Marshall Pecore and Conrad Waniger

resubmitted HFR Invoice Nos. 212, 214, 217, 219, 224, and 248 to Congos for hazardous

fuel reduction work allegedly performed during 2001, despite having knowledge that a

substantial amount of the work reflected in those invoices had not been performed, or the

same work had been double or triple billed to multiple invoices. 
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124. In resubmitting HFR Invoice Nos. 212, 214, 217, 219, 224, and 248 in March

and April 2002, Marshall Pecore, upon the recommendation of Conrad Waniger, executed

written certifications as to the accuracy of each of the invoices.

125. Marshall Pecore and Conrad Waniger resubmitted HFR Invoice Nos. 212, 214,

217, 219, 224, and 248, despite having knowledge that a substantial amount of the work

shown on the accomplishment maps supporting the invoices had not been performed, or was

also shown on accomplishment maps MTE submitted in support of other road brushing

invoices, resulting in double or triple billing of the same work to multiple invoices. 

126.  Between March 2002 and August 2002, David Congos conducted field

inspections of the fire work reflected on accomplishment maps supporting the HFR and fire

subsidiary invoices discussed above.

127. Congos’ inspections showed that a substantial percentage of the work reflected

on those accomplishment maps was never performed, or was double or triple billed with

other invoices, despite Pecore’s certifications. 

(2) False Road Brushing Invoices.   

128. HFR Invoices 200, 212, 214, 217, 219, 224, and 248 (all for road brushing

work allegedly performed in 2001) were false or fraudulent in the following respects:

Invoice Falsity

200 19.4 miles billed, but digital MTE accomplishment maps claim 14.16 miles as

partially brushed and 9.54 miles fully brushed.  BIA field inspection shows at

least 9.6 miles not completed.  Comparison of digital maps shows 1.38 miles

Case 1:07-cv-00316-WCG     Filed 04/03/2007     Page 23 of 38     Document 1 



24

double-billed with Invoice 214; .82 miles triple-billed with Invoices 214 and

217.    

212 19 miles billed, but digital MTE accomplishment maps claim 19.78 miles as

partially brushed and 12.26 miles fully brushed; at least 9.7 miles not

completed; 6.3 miles double-billed with Invoice 248; 1.6 miles double-billed

with Invoice 224; 1.3 miles triple-billed with Invoices 214 and 217.

214 6.7 miles billed, but digital MTE accomplishment maps claim 37.2 miles fully

brushed and 2.43 miles partially brushed; at least 18 miles not accomplished;

1.38 miles double-billed with Invoice 200; .42 miles double-billed with

Invoice 217; 2.4 miles double-billed with Invoice 219; 2.92 miles double-

billed with Invoice 248; 1.3 miles triple-billed with Invoices 212 and 217; 6.1

miles triple-billed with Invoices 217 and 219; .82 miles triple-billed with

Invoices 200 and 217. 

217 2.25 miles billed, but 19.1 miles highlighted by hand on supporting MTE

accomplishment maps; at least 10.9 miles not accomplished; .42 miles double-

billed with Invoice 214; 6.1 miles triple-billed with Invoices 214 and 219; 1.3

miles triple-billed with Invoices 212 and 214; .82 miles triple-billed with

Invoices 200 and 214. 

219 9.75 miles billed, and 9.75 miles highlighted by hand on supporting MTE

accomplishment maps; at least 8.5 miles not accomplished; 2.4 miles double-

billed with Invoice 214; 6.1 miles triple-billed with Invoices 214 and 217.

224 0.9 miles billed, but 10.24 miles claimed on digital and hand-highlighted MTE

accomplishment maps; at least 1.6 miles not accomplished; 1.6 miles double-

billed with Invoice 212.

248 6 miles billed, but at least 11.7 miles allegedly completed per digital version

of hand-highlighted MTE accomplishment maps; at least 11.7 miles not

accomplished; 6.3 miles double-billed with Invoice 212; 2.92 miles double-

billed with Invoice 214.

129. On May 8, 2002, the BIA informed MTE that Invoice Nos. 212, 214, 217, 219,

224, and 248 would not be paid, in part because “[w]ork that was billed for in these invoices

appears not to have been performed.”
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(3) False HFR Invoices for Prescribed Burns.

130. On or about April 15, 2002, MTE submitted to the BIA for payment HFR

Invoice Nos. 220 and 222, both dated November 11 2001, for allegedly conducting

prescribed fire suppression burns between April 1, 2001 and August 31, 2001.  

131. On or about April 12, 2002, Marshall Pecore, upon Conrad Waniger’s

recommendation, executed written certifications attesting to the accuracy and completeness

of Invoice Nos. 220 and 222. 

132. Invoice No. 220 billed the BIA a total of $17,010 in wages and equipment for

conducting an “Urban Interface/Middle Village” burn pursuant to Work Order 870.

133. Invoice No. 222 billed the BIA for $12,350 in wages and equipment for

conducting an “Urban Interface/Communities Burn” pursuant to Work Order 868. 

134. Upon information and belief, both Invoices 220 and 222 were false or

fraudulent in that MTE used the time cards of its employees, including Greg Van Orsow and

John Cooper, to charge their wages to these Invoices, when in fact these employees did not

work on either of these fire suppression burns at the times reflected on their time cards.  

135. Upon information and belief, MTE, Marshall Pecore and Conrad Waniger had

knowledge of the falsity of HFR Invoices 220 and 222 at the time they were submitted to the

BIA for payment.
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(4) False Claims for Fire Subsidiary Projects.

136. In addition to the false or fraudulent HFR invoices described above, between

August and November 2001, MTE submitted false or fraudulent claims for road grading and

fire road access work (also called “subsidiary” work) allegedly performed between March

and September 2001 under the Public Law 93-638 Forest Management Contract.  

137. Under the Forest Management Contract, MTE representatives Conrad Waniger

and Myron Grignon, MTE Roads Crew Supervisor, created internal invoices to document the

work allegedly performed under the Contract, and to draw down available federal subsidiary

funding. 

138. MTE used the internal invoices to prepare quarterly SF 269A reports, which

MTE submitted to the BIA as its invoice document. 

139. On August 24, 2001, MTE submitted a SF 269A report for fire subsidiary work

allegedly performed in May 2001 ($28,434.80 drawn down for 55 miles of work) and June

2001 ($29,704.16 drawn down for 56 miles of work).

140. On November 21, 2001, MTE submitted a SF 269A report for fire subsidiary

work allegedly performed in July 2001 ($22,031.27 drawn down for 72 miles of work),

August 2001 ($37,468.45 drawn down for 50 miles of work) and September 2001

($32,229.90 drawn down for 45 miles of work).
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141. In approximately early December 2001, MTE submitted accomplishment maps

to the BIA to document the fire subsidiary work allegedly performed between May and

September, 2001. 

142. In many instances, fire subsidiary work shown on these accomplishment maps

were also shown on the accomplishment maps MTE submitted in support of HFR Invoice

202 (for road grading and culvert work) as well as other fire subsidiary invoices, resulting

in double or triple billing of the same work to multiple invoices.

143. Between March and August of 2002, the BIA conducted field inspections of

the work allegedly performed under these fire subsidiary invoices.

144. The BIA field inspections revealed that a substantial amount of the fire

subsidiary work highlighted on accomplishment maps submitted in support of the internal

MTE invoices had not been performed, as described in more detail below.   

145. Based upon the BIA field inspections, at least 21.24 miles of the fire subsidiary

work reflected in the internal MTE invoices was never performed, consisting of the

following: May 2001 (.7 miles); June 2001 (2.53 miles); July 2001 (7.67 miles); August 2001

(4.74 miles); and September 2001 (5.6 miles).

146. A comparison of the HFR and internal invoices submitted by MTE also shows

that at least 78 miles of fire subsidiary work allegedly completed by MTE, but which in fact

was not completed, was also double or triple billed to multiple invoices submitted to the BIA,
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consisting of the following: May 2001 (10 miles); July 2001 (42 miles); and September 2001

(26 miles).

C. Improper Use of Indirect Cost Funds.    

(1) Contractual and Statutory Provisions.

147. In addition to funds that may be used directly to carry out the terms of the self-

determination contracts described above, called “direct program costs,” the Roads

Maintenance and Forest Management contracts contained provisions, described below,

permitting MTE to make a claim to federal money for “indirect costs,” also known as

contract support funds.

148. The Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act, 25 U.S.C § 450b

defines these phrases as follows:

(c) “direct program costs” means costs that can be identified

specifically with a particular contract objective; ...

(f) “indirect costs” means costs incurred for a common or joint purpose

benefitting more than one contract objective, or which are not readily

assignable to the contract objectives specifically benefitted without

effort disproportionate to the results achieved; ... 

149. Paragraph G-6 (c) of the Roads Maintenance Contract, entitled “Negotiated

Indirect Cost Rates,” provides that “[a]llowability of cost and acceptability of cost allocation

methods shall be determined in accordance with OMB Circular A-87.

150. OMB Circular A-87, Attachment E, subparagraph A.1, provides in part that

indirect costs “are those that have been incurred for common or joint purposes.  These costs
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benefit more than one cost objective and cannot be readily identified with a particular final

cost objective without effort disproportionate to the results achieved.” 

151. In accordance with these provisions, funds advanced to MTE by the federal

government as indirect costs may not be used for direct program costs. 

152. The Annual Funding Agreement, Attachment E to the Roads Maintenance

Contract, provides that the Contractor (MTE) “understands and agrees that funds advanced

to the Contractor under the Contract shall be used for the purposes authorized by the

Contract,” and that the “funds advanced cannot be used for any purpose other than authorized

Bureau Program expenditure, even on a temporary basis.  Moreover, funds advanced pending

disbursement for a purpose authorized under the Contract shall not be transferred into tribal

accounts, lent to any such tribal accounts, or expended for programs or purposes not

specifically authorized under the Contract.  Funds advanced under the Contract shall be

placed into appropriate savings, checking, or investment accounts.”

(2) Defendants’ Knowledge of Contractual and Statutory Provisions.

153.  Some time prior to October 15, 1999, MTE inquired with BIA as to the

appropriate use of indirect cost funds that had accumulated from prior years’ contracts.

154.   In response to that inquiry, on October 15, 1999, Melvin Firemoon, BIA

Contract Specialist, wrote to Jacci Pubanz, Forestry Administrative Assistant, MTE’s

designated point of contact for all contract matters.
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155. The October 15, 1999 letter advised MTE that “[i]ndirect cost funds must be

used by the Tribe or Tribal Organization to pay for allowable indirect costs expenditures as

defined by OMB Circular A-87 (attached).”

156. The October 15, 1999 letter continued:

Expenditures must be incurred for common or joint purposes,

benefit more than one cost objective, cannot be readily

identified to a particular program, and used for the general

administration necessary to carry out the contracted programs.

The Tribe or Tribal Organization may also use these funds

to acquire equipment, i.e. computers, file cabinets,

telecommunications equipment, etc., to improve services

provided to these contracted programs, provided that their

purchase is pre-approved by the Funding Agency.              

 

(Emphasis in original letter). 

157. On July 26, 2000, BIA officials met with the Lawrence Waukau and staff of

MTE including Larry Johnson, Marshall Pecore, Michael Richter and Jacci Pubanz, in part

to discuss MTE desired use of prior years’ contract support funds that had not been spent.

158. At the July 26, 2000, meeting,  MTE representatives asked if any of this

contract support funding could be expended for program needs.

159. At the July 26, 2000, meeting, BIA officials advised MTE that it could not

expend contract support money on direct program expenses, since such funds could only be

used on administrative services in support of contracted programs, but not the contracted

programs themselves. 
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(3) MTE’s improper transfer and expenditure of indirect costs funds. 

160. On October 20, 2000, less than three months after the July 26, 2000 meeting

described above, Larry Johnson directed the transfer of $200,000 of “Overfunded Indirect

Cost Funds” from the Roads Maintenance Contract to the Forest Management Contract. 

161. Upon information and belief, Larry Johnson executed this transfer at the

request of MTE officials, and with the approval of MTE’s auditor, with the understanding

that the funds would be used for indirect costs expenditures.

162. According to MTE financial records, the October 20, 2000 transfer reduced the

overfunded indirect cost amount from $287,929 to $87,929. 

163. Following the October 20, 2000 transfer, MTE deposited these funds into their

general  forestry checking account, where they were co-mingled with other contract funds

and expended for direct program costs, in violation of paragraph G-6(c) of the Roads

Maintenance Contract and OMB Circular A-87.

164. On February 15, 2001, MTE submitted to BIA as its invoice document a

Financial Status Report that included the October 2000 transfer and expenditure of $200,000

in indirect cost funds from the Roads Maintenance Contract to the Forest Management

Contract.

165. On or about April 30, 2001, MTE transferred the remaining overfunded

indirect costs of $87,929 from the Roads Maintenance Contract to the Forest Management

Contract.  

Case 1:07-cv-00316-WCG     Filed 04/03/2007     Page 31 of 38     Document 1 



32

166. Following this April 30, 2001 transfer,  MTE deposited these funds into their

general forestry checking account, where they were co-mingled with other contract funds and

expended for direct program purposes, in violation of paragraph G-6(c) of the Roads

Maintenance Contract and OMB Circular A-87. 

167. On August 24, 2001, MTE submitted to BIA as its invoice document a

Financial Status Report that included the April 2001 transfer and expenditure of $87,929 in

indirect cost funds.

VII.  CLAIMS FOR RELIEF.

Count I

Violation of the False Claims Act

31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)
(Defendants MTE, Pecore and Waniger)

168. The United States incorporates all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth.

169. On or about the dates listed below, defendants MTE, Marshall Pecore and

Conrad Waniger violated 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1) by knowingly presenting or causing to

be presented claims (i.e.,  HFR Invoices and Forms 269A) to BIA for fire subsidiary and

HFR work that was not performed, or for fire work that was double and triple billed to the

BIA, as follows:

Claim Date Presented Description of Claim

1 March 22, 2001 HFR Invoice No. 200, paid April 20, 2001 

2 March 22, 2001 HFR Invoice No. 202, paid April 27, 2001

3 March 14, 2002 HFR Invoice No. 212, dated June 28, 2001 (not paid)
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4 March 14, 2002 HFR Invoice No. 214, dated October 17, 2001 (not paid)

5 March 14, 2002 HFR Invoice No. 217, dated October 23, 2001 (not paid)

6 March 14, 2002 HFR Invoice No. 219, dated October 23, 2001 (not paid)

7 April 12, 2002 HFR Invoice No. 220, dated November 1, 2001 (not paid)

8 April 12, 2002 HFR Invoice No. 222, dated November 1, 2001 (not paid)

9 March 14, 2002 HFR Invoice No. 224, dated November 9, 2001 (not paid)

10 March 14, 2002 HFR Invoice No. 248, dated March 27, 2002 (not paid)   

11 August 24, 2001 A SF 269A report that included internal MTE invoices for

approximately $58,139 of fire subsidiary work allegedly

performed in May and June 2001 (paid by BIA) 

12 November 21, 2001 A SF 269A report that included internal MTE invoices for

approximately $91,729 of fire subsidiary work allegedly

performed in July, August and September 2001 (paid by BIA) 

170. By virtue of the false claims made by defendants MTE, Marshall Pecore

and Conrad Waniger, the United States suffered damages as to the paid claims (Claim

Nos. 1-2 and 11-12) and therefore is entitled to triple damages under the False Claims

Act, to be determined at trial, plus civil penalties as to both the paid and unpaid claims.

Count II

Violation of the False Claims Act

31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(2)
(Defendants MTE, Pecore and Waniger)

171. The United States incorporates all preceding Paragraphs as if fully set forth.

172. Defendants MTE, Marshall Pecore and Conrad Waniger knowingly made,

used or caused to be made or used, false records or statements to get the false claims
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identified in Count I, False Claim Nos. 1-2 and 11-12, paid or approved by the BIA. 

Specifically, the defendants knowingly made, used or caused to be made or used false

records, including false invoices, accomplishment maps and other documents described in

this Complaint, to get the false claims described in Count I paid or approved by BIA.

173. By virtue of these false records or false statements knowingly made, used or

caused to be made or used by MTE, the United States is entitled to triple damages under

the False Claims Act, to be determined at trial, plus civil penalties.

Count III

Breach of Contract

(MTE only)

174.   The United States incorporates all preceding paragraphs as if fully set

forth. 

175.  Defendant MTE materially breached the Roads Maintenance Contract by

making the following claims for payment, all of which violated the terms of the Contract:

Date of Claim Description of Claim 

May 4, 1999 A SF 269A report that included the purchase of a 1999

Caterpillar Road Grader. 

February 14, 2001 A SF 269A report that included the purchase of a 2000

Caterpillar Backhoe Loader.

February 14, 2001 A SF 269A report that included the purchase of a

Chevrolet pick-up truck.

February 14, 2001 A SF 269A report that included the purchase and

construction of a nine-stall garage for equipment

storage.
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February 14, 2001 A SF 269A report that included the purchase of a

Snowplow Truck.

176. Defendant MTE materially breached the Roads Maintenance Contract by

improperly expending $78,804 in BIA funds from the Roads Maintenance Contract for

the costs of leasing some of the same equipment MTE purchased with BIA funds, in

violation of Section H-7 of the Roads Maintenance Contract (requiring written BIA

approval for all leases) and OMB Circular A-87, as follows:

Month/Year Equipment
Identifiers

Hourly Rate Hours Charged Amount Billed

May 2001 21, 60, 61, 73 65/70 398 $27,781

June 2001 21, 60, 61, 72, 73 65/70 248.5 $16,963

July 2001 60, 61, 73 70 209 $14,630

Aug 2001 61, 73 70 64 $  4,480

Sept 2001 61, 73 70 210 $14,700

Oct 2001 61, 73 60/70 4 $     250

Total 1,133.50 $78,804

177. The equipment identifiers referred to in this Complaint are as follows:

Backhoe (21); Road Grader (60, 61 and 73); Mack Truck (72).   

178. Defendant MTE materially breached the Forest Management Contract by

making the claims for payment set forth in Claim Nos. 11 and 12 in Count I above.
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179. MTE materially breached the Roads Maintenance and Forest Management

Contracts by making the following claims for payment, all of which violated the terms of

the Contracts.

Date of Claim Description of Claim 

February 15, 2001 A SF 269A report that included the October 20, 2000

transfer and improper expenditure of $200,000 in

indirect costs funds.

August 24, 2001 A SF 269A report that included the April 30, 2001

transfer and improper expenditure of $87,929 in

indirect costs funds.

180. Defendant MTE materially breached the Hazardous Fuels Reduction

Contract by making the claims for payment set forth in Claim Nos. 1 and 2 in Count I

above, both of which violated the terms of the HFR Agreement. 

181. By reason of MTE’s breach of these contracts, the United States has been

damaged in an undetermined amount. 

Count IV

Unjust Enrichment

(MTE only)

182. The United States incorporates all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth.

183. The BIA directly or indirectly paid defendant MTE for services, capital

assets, leases, and indirect costs, as described above.  MTE was aware it was receiving

and using these payments improperly.  MTE accepted and retained the payments to which
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it was not entitled, as alleged herein.  Due to the nature of the payments, it is inequitable

for MTE to retain those payments.

184. By directly or indirectly obtaining BIA funds to which it was not entitled,

defendant MTE was unjustly enriched and is liable to account for and pay such amounts or

the proceeds therefore, which are to be determined at trial, to the United States.

Count V

Payment by Mistake 

(MTE only)

185. The United States incorporates all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth.

186. This is a claim for the recovery of monies BIA paid to defendant MTE by

mistake.

187. The BIA paid MTE certain sums of money to which it was not entitled, as

described above, and MTE is thus liable to account for and return such amounts, which are

to be determined at trial, to the United States.

VIII. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the United States of America demands and prays that judgment be

entered in its favor and against the defendants, as follows:

1. On Counts I and II, for triple the amount of the United States’ statutory

damages, such civil penalties as required by law, all allowable civil penalties, fees, and costs

under the False Claims Act, as amended, together with all such further relief as may be just

and allowed by law.
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2. On Counts III, IV and V, for an accounting, and for the damages

sustained and/or amounts by which defendant MTE was unjustly enriched, by which the

defendant retained illegally obtained monies, or which resulted from the defendant’s breach

of contract, plus interest, costs, and expenses, and all such further relief as may be just and

allowed by law.

3. All other relief as this Court may deem equitable and just.  

A TRIAL BY JURY IS HEREBY DEMANDED.

Dated at Milwaukee, Wisconsin this 3rd day of April, 2007.

STEVEN M. BISKUPIC

United States Attorney

By: /s Christian R. Larsen

CHRISTIAN R. LARSEN 

Assistant United States Attorney   

517 East Wisconsin Avenue, Rm 530

Milwaukee, WI 53202

(414) 297-1700

State Bar No. 1005336

christian.larsen@usdoj.gov
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